2005

Utah v. Jason Paul Meyer : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

The Appellant is appealing from a Judgment, Sentence and Commitment in the Second District Court for Weber County, Utah, dated May 23, 2005. The Defendant was convicted by a jury of Assault, a Class A misdemeanor on April 4, 2005. He was sentenced by the Honorable Michael D. Lyon of the Second Judicial District Court for Weber County to serve 365 days in the Weber County Jail. Jurisdiction for the appeal is conferred upon the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to U.C.A. §78-2a-3(2)(e).

ISSUE ON APPEAL AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

DID THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT ALLOWED THE STATE TO INTRODUCE EVIDENCE OF THE DEFENDANT’S PRIOR CONVICTIONS AND HIS STAY AT THE PRISON?

Standard of Review: This issue should be reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard of review. “[T]his Court will not reverse the trial court’s ruling on evidentiary issues unless it is manifest that the court so abused its discretion that there is a likelihood that injustice resulted.” *State v. Gentry*, 747 P.2d 1032 (Utah 1987). In addition, this court should “review the record to determine whether the admission of [prior] bad acts evidence was ‘scrupulously examined’ by the trial judge ‘in the proper exercise of that discretion.’” *State v. Nelson-Wagonner*, 6 P.3d 1120 (Utah 2000)(citations omitted).

This issue was preserved for appeal when the Defendant attempted to not answer the prosecutor’s questions concerning his prior convictions. (R. 123/99)

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND RULES

Utah Code Annotated

U.C.A. § 76-5-102- Assault

(1) Assault is:

- a. An attempt, with unlawful force or violence, to do bodily injury to another;
- b. A threat, accompanied by a show of immediate force or violence, to do bodily injury to another or;

- c. An act, committed with unlawful force or violence, that causes bodily injury to another or creates a substantial risk of bodily injury to another.
- (3) Assault is a class A misdemeanor if:
- a. the person causes substantial bodily injury to another;

U.C.A. §78-2a-3(2)(e) -Court of Appeals jurisdiction.

(2) The Court of Appeals has appellate jurisdiction, including jurisdiction of interlocutory appeals, over:

(e) appeals from a court of record in criminal cases, except those involving a conviction or charge of a first degree felony or capital felony;

Utah Rules of Evidence

Rule 403 – Exclusion of relevant evidence on grounds of prejudice, confusion or waste or time. - Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.

Rule 404(b) *other crimes, wrongs, or acts.* Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident.

Rule 609 - Impeachment by evidence of conviction of crime.

- (a) General rule. For the purpose of attacking the credibility of a witness,
 - (a)(1) evidence that a witness other than the accused has been convicted of a crime shall be admitted, subject to Rule 403, if the crime was punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of one year under the law under which the witness was convicted, and evidence that an accused has been convicted of such a crime shall be admitted if the court determines that the probative value of admitting this evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect to the accused; and of admitting this evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect to the accused, and
 - (a)(2) evidence that any witness has been convicted of a crime shall be admitted if it involved dishonesty or false statement, regardless of the punishment.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Defendant was charged by Information with Assault, a class A misdemeanor in violation of U.C.A. § 76-5-102. (2005). The Defendant pled not guilty to the charge. He also waived his right to be represented by an attorney. The Defendant signed a waiver of counsel in open court. (R. 021, 022-23). A jury trial was held on April 4, 2005. The Defendant represented himself at the trial. The jury found the Defendant guilty of Assault, a class A misdemeanor. (R. 30-32). He was sentenced on May 12, 2005 to serve 365 days in the Weber County Jail. (R. 90-92). The Sentence, Judgment and Commitment was signed on May 23, 2005. (R. 90-92). A notice of Appeal was filed on June 20, 2005. (R. 106).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On December 26, 2004, Travis Haven was picked up by the Defendant and Matt Griffin. (R. 123/41). Approximately a week to two weeks prior to this date, the Defendant had fronted Mr. Haven some methamphetamine and Mr. Haven owed the Defendant between one hundred and two hundred dollars. (R. 123/40). After Mr. Haven was picked up in Roy, they drove to some apartments in Ogden. (R. 123/41-42). Mr. Haven went with the Defendant and Mr. Griffin voluntarily. (R. 123/42).

Mr. Haven and the Defendant both exited the vehicle. Mr. Haven remembered walking about twenty feet and that was all he could remember. (R.

123/42). The next thing Mr. Haven remembered was waking up in a bed in the hospital. (R. 123/45). He was missing one tooth. (R. 123/45).

Rodney Hachmeister was present during the altercation. He testified that he heard a little bit of a scuffle. He turned to look and observed the Defendant connect with a punch. He also observed Mr. Haven fall. (R. 123/61). He testified that the punch was to Mr. Haven's mouth and that his mouth was bloody. (R. 123/62). When Mr. Haven fell, he hit his head on a wall. (R. 123/63). Mr. Hachmeister attended to Mr. Haven. He testified that Mr. Haven was unconscious. (R. 123/63).

Mr. Haven was eventually taken to the hospital. He had a number of injuries. He had lacerations to his lip where his teeth had pierced through the skin causing it to open up his lip. He also had bruising and swelling on the back of his head. (R. 123/72).

Detective Reaves from the Ogden Police Department contacted the Defendant on the phone and asked him about the fight. The Defendant told him that it was "only a fistfight" and that he didn't mean for it to be that bad. (R. 123/80). The Defendant went in to the police station the next day to meet with Detective Reaves. The Defendant told Detective Reaves that Mr. Haven owed him two hundred dollars for stereo equipment. (R. 123/82). The Defendant also stated that he and Mr. Haven became involved in an argument because Mr. Haven said

he'd only give him twenty-six dollars. The Defendant wanted his stereo back and Mr. Haven said that he'd sold it. The Defendant also stated that when they got out of the van they both "bounced at each other," and that the Defendant swung and hit him and Mr. Haven fell and hit his head on a log. (R. 123/83).

The Defendant told Detective Reaves that he hit Mr. Haven one time. (R. 123/84). The Defendant had some swelling on his left hand which he indicated was from hitting Mr. Haven. (R. 123/85).

The Defendant testified on his own behalf. He testified that he had an altercation with Mr. Haven. He also testified that he probably threw the first punch because he thought Mr. Haven might hit him. Mr. Haven further testified that it was only one hit and that it was an unlucky circumstance that he fell and hit his head. (R. 123/93). The Defendant also insinuated that the altercation was mutual that involved pushing and that he "probably threw the first punch 'cause I was, you know, he might hit me first." (R. 123/93-94, 96-97). The Defendant went on to state that "I'm guilty of assault, yes, I am – you know what I'm saying – but not to the fact that . . . cuz it was an altercation." (R. 123/94).

During cross-examination the prosecutor said to the Defendant, "[i]sn't it true you've been convicted of a felony before?" The Defendant plead the Fifth on that question. The trial judge instructed the Defendant to answer the question. The Defendant then answered that he had. (R. 123/99). The prosecutor then stated that

it was in October of 2001. The Defendant pleaded the Fifth and the judge instructed him a second time that he had to answer the question. The Defendant then answered that he had. The prosecutor then said “[a]nd you [were] also convicted in May of 1999?” After the Defendant answered yes, the prosecutor made the statement, “[y]ou were sent to prison for these?” The Defendant answered, “Yes, I have.” (R. 123/99).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court abused its discretion when it allowed the State to introduce evidence of Defendant’s prior felony convictions and prior sentence. This evidence was improper under Rules 404 and 609 of the Utah Rules of Evidence. Furthermore, the evidence was extremely prejudicial to the Defendant and there’s a reasonable likelihood that the Defendant would have received a more favorable outcome but for the prejudicial evidence.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT ALLOWED THE STATE TO CROSS-EXAMINE THE DEFENDANT CONCERNING HIS PRIOR CONVICTIONS AND THE FACT THAT HE HAD BEEN TO PRISON.

The Defendant chose to take the stand and testify on his own behalf. Following his testimony the prosecutor cross-examined him. During the cross examination the prosecutor said to the Defendant, “[i]sn’t it true you’ve been convicted of a felony before?” (R. 123/99). The Defendant answered “I plead the

Fifth on that. It has nothing to do with this.” The prosecutor then asked the trial judge to direct the Defendant to answer the question. The Defendant was instructed by the judge to answer the question. Defendant answered, “[y]es, I have.” The prosecutor responded with “and that was in October of 2001?” The Defendant again plead the Fifth and was instructed by the judge a second time to answer the question. The judge stated to him, “once you’ve taken the stand you must answer all questions.” (R. 123/99).

The Defendant answered, “[y]es, I have.” The prosecutor followed that up with, “[a]nd you also [sic] convicted in May of 1999?” The Defendant answered, “[y]es, I have.” The prosecutor then said, “[y]ou were sent to the prison for these?” The Defendant answered, “[y]es, I have.” (R. 123/99).

The evidence of the Defendant’s prior convictions should be analyzed under Rules 404 and 609 of the Utah Rules of Evidence. Rule 404(b) reads;

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident, provided that upon request by the accused, the prosecution in a criminal case shall provide reasonable notice in advance of trial, or during trial if the court excuses pretrial notice on good cause shown, of the nature of any such evidence it intends to introduce at trial.

Introducing evidence of Defendant's prior felony convictions and prison sentence is clearly improper under Rule 404(b). It appears that the prosecutor was not attempting to introduce the evidence under this rule as no notice was provided to the Defendant and the prosecutor didn't attempt to show motive, opportunity, intent, etc. However, Rule 404 prohibits the evidence which was elicited during the cross-examination. Rule 404 prohibits evidence of a person's character or a trait of character to prove action in conformity therewith. In *State v. Johnson*, 748 P.2d 1069 (Utah 1987), the Utah Supreme Court stated that "this Court has repeatedly held that evidence of other crimes may not be admitted to prove that the defendant has a bad character or a disposition to commit the crime charged." *Id.* at 1075.

The evidence that Defendant had been to prison served no purpose other than to show that the Defendant has questionable character and has committed crimes so serious that he has been imprisoned for them. In *State v. Jones*, 585 P.2d 445 (Utah 1978), the Utah Supreme Court held that "evidence of other crimes is not admissible if the purpose is to disgrace the defendant as a person of evil character with a propensity to commit crime and thus likely to have committed the crime charged." *Id.* at 446(citations omitted).

In *Johnson*, the Supreme Court held that "[t]o give meaning to the policy embodied in Rule 404(b), evidence of other crimes must be reasonably necessary

and highly probative of a material issue.” *State v. Johnson*, 748 P.2d at 1075. In the case at bar, the prosecutor didn’t make an attempt to show that the Defendant’s prior bad acts were somehow relevant.

It appears that he was introducing the prior convictions under Rule 609 of the Utah Rules of Evidence¹. Rule 609 is broken into two parts, (a)(1) and (a)(2). Subsection (a)(1) states;

Evidence that a witness other than the accused has been convicted of a crime shall be admitted, subject to Rule 403, if the crime was punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of one year under the law under which the witness was convicted, and evidence that an accused has been convicted of such a crime shall be admitted if the court determines that the probative value of admitting this evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect to the accused;

Subsection (a)(2) allows any witness to be impeached with a prior conviction if the conviction involved dishonesty or a false statement. The prosecutor didn’t introduce any evidence as to what the prior felony convictions were for. Therefore, they could not have been admitted under subsection (a)(2). “Where no inquiry is made about the underlying facts, and the appellate court cannot determine from the record if the prior crime involved dishonesty or false statement, the prior conviction is inadmissible under 609(a)(2).” *State v. Brown*, 771 P.2d 1093, 1094 (Utah Ct. App. 1989)(citation omitted.)

¹ Which still doesn’t explain the question concerning the Defendant having gone to prison.

This means the prior convictions had to have been admitted under subsection (a)(1). There are two different standards outlined in subsection (a)(1). For a regular witness the prior felony convictions appear to be admissible subject to Rule 403. However, the Rule specifically states that “evidence that an accused has been convicted of such a crime shall be admitted if the court determines that the probative value of admitting this evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect to the accused;” U.R.E. Rule 609(a)(1).

There have been several cases out of Utah’s appellate courts which shed further light on this issue. In *State v. Saunders*, 699 P.2d 738 (Utah 1985), the Utah Supreme Court stated that “[t]he bases of these limitations on the admissibility of evidence of prior crimes is the tendency of a fact finder to convict the accused because of bad character rather than because his is shown to be guilty of the offenses charged. Because of this tendency, such evidence is presumed prejudicial and, absent a reason for the admission of the evidence other than to show criminal disposition, the evidence is excluded.” *Id.* at 741

In *State v. Banner*, 717 P.2d 1325 (Utah 1986), the Utah Supreme Court outlined five factors that a trial court must consider when the State seeks to admit prior convictions under Rule 609(a)(1). These factors are;

[1] the nature of the crime, as bearing on the character for veracity of the witness.

[2] the recentness or remoteness of the prior conviction.

[3] the similarity of the prior crime to the charged crime, insofar as a close resemblance may lead the jury to punish the accused as a bad person.

[4] the importance of credibility issues in determining the truth in a prosecution tried without decisive nontestimonial evidence.

[5] the importance of the accused's testimony, as perhaps warranting the exclusion of convictions probative of the accused's character for veracity.

Id. at 1334. The Supreme Court stated that “[i]t is universally held that the prosecution under Rule 609 (a)(1) has the burden of persuading the court that the probative value of admitting the convictions, as far as shedding light on the defendant's credibility, outweighs the prejudicial effect to the defendant.” *Id.* The Court went on to state “[y]et Mr. Gunnarson offered no evidence that introduction of the convictions was more probative than prejudicial. The crime of assault with intent to commit rape does not inherently reflect on defendant's character for truth and veracity.” *Id.* at 1334-35.

In the case at bar, the trial court didn't even attempt to balance the probative value against the prejudicial effect. The trial court also failed to make the prosecutor carry his burden concerning these convictions. As has been stated, the specific offense were not inquired into. Only the fact that Defendant had been

convicted of felonies on two separate occasions and sent to prison both times was introduced. It was impossible for the trial court (and this court) to engage in a thorough analysis of the five *Banner* factors when the prosecutor didn't indicate what the felony convictions were for. In *State v. Gentry*, 747 P.2d 1032 (Utah 1987), the Utah Supreme Court found that the trial court had abused its discretion when it refused to suppress the defendant's prior convictions for rape and escape.² The Court stated, "[a]pplying the factors we identified in *Banner* to the rape and escape convictions, we conclude that the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to suppress them. The State did not offer any discussion concerning the probative or prejudicial aspects of defendant's prior convictions. However, we find that the prejudicial character of the convictions outweighs their possible probative value and that defendant should have been able to testify in his own behalf without being cross-examined concerning them." *Id.* at 1037.

Concerning the prior rape conviction, the Court stated that the "crime of rape does not inherently reflect on defendant's character for truth and veracity. Instead, it sheds about the same light as any felony involving moral turpitude." *Id.* (quotations omitted). Likewise, pointing out that Defendant had prior felony convictions without a showing that they reflected on the Defendant's character for

² In *State v. Gentry*, the defendant did not take the stand. However, he had filed a pre-trial motion to suppress the prior convictions and his motion was denied. He then chose to not testify. His trial was before the United State

truth and veracity was reversible error. The only point made by introducing that prejudicial evidence was to show that Defendant is a person of bad character.

Once it's established that prior conviction evidence was improperly admitted, it must be determined whether the violation constitutes reversible error. "The standard for reversal in cases involving an erroneous failure to exclude prior convictions is whether absent the error, there was a reasonable likelihood of a more favorable result for the defendant." *State v. Bruce*, 779 P.2d 646 (Utah 1989).

In the case at bar there is a reasonable likelihood that there would have been a more favorable result for the Defendant but for the introduction of his prior felonies and prison sentence. The victim was an admitted methamphetamine user. (R. 123/40). He also testified that the Defendant had fronted him some meth and that he hadn't paid him back. (R. 123/40). The victim didn't have a recollection of the alleged assault. (R. 123/45).

The only witness to the assault other than the Defendant was Rodney Hachmeister. He didn't observe the events that led up to the assault. He heard "a little bit of a scuffle" and when he looked over he saw the Defendant connecting with a punch to the face of the victim, Mr. Haven. (R. 123/61).

Supreme Court's decision in *Luce v. United States*, 469 U.S. 38 (1984) which requires a defendant to testify in order to preserve a Rule 609(a) claim.

Although the Defendant testified that he hit the Mr. Haven, he also testified that there had been some pushing and he thought Mr. Haven was going to punch him. The Defendant testified, “he came at me again and I swung.” (R. 123/97). With the victim’s admissions to being a methamphetamine user and with his lack of recollection concerning the events in question it is certainly probable that the jury would have believed the Defendant’s version of the incident and found that he acted in self defense. As it was, the jury obviously had some concerns. During their deliberations the jury sent out several questions asking for additional information. They wanted to know (1) what the purpose was in picking up Travis [Haven], (R. 123/126), (2) “why was Travis at Jason’s?” (3) “Why were they standing around the pond in the first place?” and (4) “Where is Matt, his side of the story?”³