2005

Utah v. Jason Paul Meyer : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State concedes that the prosecutor committed error and trial court erred in allowing the State to question the Defendant about his prior convictions. However, any error was harmless because it was not prejudicial to the Defendant in the sense that there would have been a reasonable likelihood of a different result absent that error. The Defendant admitted in open court that he was guilty of assault, and that he threw the first and only punch because of the claimed possibility that the Victim might hit him first. (R. 93-94, 96-97). But contrary to the Defendant's assertions, the jury had credible and admissible evidence to believe the Defendant was not acting in self defense. Therefore, there is not a reasonable likelihood that, but for any error committed by the trial court, there would have been a result more favorable to the Defendant.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED ERROR WHEN IT ALLOWED THE STATE TO QUESTION THE DEFENDANT ABOUT HIS PRIOR CONVICTIONS, BUT ANY ERROR WAS HARMLESS BECAUSE IT DID NOT INCREASE THE REASONABLE LIKELIHOOD OF A MORE FAVORABLE RESULT FOR THE DEFENDANT

The State concedes that the prosecution committed error when it asked the Defendant about his criminal record and the trial court erred in allowing the prosecutor to do the same. No inquiry was made by the trial court under Utah Rule of Evidence 609(a) concerning the factors set forth in *State v. Banner*. 717 P.2d 1325, 1334-35 (Utah 1986). The failure to conduct the inquiry and balancing required under the *Banner* criteria renders the prior conviction evidence inadmissible and thus erroneously admitted. *State*

v. Wight, 765 P.2d 12, 18-21 (Utah App. 1988) (stating that the trial court's failure to make this inquiry and balance the competing considerations made the evidence of prior crimes inadmissible).

Though the prosecution and the trial court may have erred when it allowed the State to question the Defendant about his prior felony convictions, any such error was harmless because there is not a reasonable likelihood that, but for the error, a different outcome would have resulted for the Defendant. As the Utah Supreme Court has held, "An erroneous decision by a trial court 'cannot result in reversible error unless the error is harmful.'" *State v. Lafferty*, 20 P.3d 342, 356 (Utah 2001)(quoting *State v. Hamilton*, 827 P.2d 232, 240 (1992)). "An error is harmful if it undermines our confidence in the verdict; if, minus that error, there is a sufficiently high likelihood of a different outcome." *State v. Honie*, 57 P.3d 977, 992 (Utah 2002). Moreover, "The burden of showing harmfulness...rests on the complaining party." *Lafferty*, 20 P.3d at 356 (quoting *Hamilton*, 827 P.2d at 240)).

The Utah Supreme Court has explained that "[t]he standard for reversal in cases involving an erroneous failure to exclude prior convictions is whether absent the error, there was a reasonable likelihood of a more favorable result for the defendant." *State v. Bruce, Jr.* 779 P.2d 646, 656 (Utah 1989). In *Bruce*, the Court upheld the armed robbery conviction of the defendant despite the improper discussion of the defendant's prior convictions during trial. Explaining why it upheld the conviction under the manifest and prejudicial error standard, the Court said: "Under this standard, a majority of this Court

concludes that the erroneous admission of defendant's prior convictions was harmless. It is clear to us that the State presented sufficient evidence and eyewitness testimony to prove that defendant robbed the Corner Mart convenience store.” *Id.* Since the State proved every element necessary to convict the defendant, the Court explained that “[e]rroneous admission of evidence is harmless if there is convincing, properly admitted evidence of all essential elements of the case.” *Id.* (quoting *United States v. Baker*, 693 F.2d 183, 189 (D.C. Cir. 1982)). See also *State v. Wight*, 765 P.2d 12 (Utah App. 1988) (holding that the since the trial court did not conduct an inquiry under *State v. Banner*, the admission of a defendant’s prior criminal record was error, but any error was harmless because there was adequate evidence in the record to convince the Court that there was not a reasonable likelihood of a more favorable result); *State v. Cravens*, 15 P.3d 635 (Utah App. 2000) (holding that admission of prior burglary and robbery convictions in a case where the defendant was charged with threatening or using a dangerous weapon in a fight or quarrel and threats against life or property was harmless error because the other evidence demonstrated that the result would not have likely been more favorable to the defendant absent the error).

In this case, the jury would almost certainly have convicted the Defendant regardless of whether the State asked questions about the Defendant’s prior criminal record. The Defendant attempts to carry his burden of proving harmfulness by relying on the Victim’s admitted use of methamphetamine, on the jury’s uncertainties about why the Victim and Defendant were standing around the pond, why another witness did not

testify, and why the Defendant picked up the Victim in the first place. BRIEF OF APPELLANT AT 14-15. According to the Defendant, these issues somehow created doubt in the jurors' minds about whether the Victim's or the Defendant's side of the story was true. Therefore, according to the Defendant, in a question about whose version of events was more believable, the revelation to the jurors of the Defendant's previous convictions miraculously tipped the balance in the State's favor by diminishing the Defendant's credibility. This is pure speculation because we do not know whether and to what extent the jury considered this evidence.

The juror's questions related to other evidence, some that was and some that was not presented in the case, but nothing referred to the Defendant's criminal history. *See State v. Cravens*, 15 P.3d at 638 (stating that the Court was uncertain to what degree the trial judge considered the defendant's convictions and there was no indication that the trial judge in fact consider them). The Defendant himself volunteered the fact that he was a methamphetamine addict and used it as recently as five days before trial! (R. 100). From a credibility standpoint, the fact that the Victim used drugs puts him on no worse or better footing than the Defendant himself. Finally, the State did not even argue the fact of the Defendant's felony convictions to the jury during closing argument. *See State v. Bruce, Jr.*, 779 P.2d at 657 (stating that the Court was not convinced the defendant's credibility was so damaged as to justify a reversal where the State did not bring up the prior convictions during closing argument).

The Defendant's theory is one of speculation at best, especially since the State proved every element necessary to convict the Defendant. Indeed, the existence of these issues is unrelated to the elements of the crime that the State proved at trial. There was never any dispute about who hit whom first. The only person to throw and land a punch was the Defendant, who admitted at trial that he "probably threw the first punch, 'cause I was, you know, he might hit me first." (R. 93-94, 96-97). There is no serious dispute that the Defendant's actions caused the Victim to suffer substantial bodily injury. The Defendant went on to admit on the witness stand that "I'm guilty of assault, yes I am—you know what I'm saying—but not to the fact that...cuz it was an altercation." (R. 94). Clearly the Defendant's testimony and the other evidence proved he committed an assault that caused substantial bodily injury.

Thus, the Defendant's claim must stand or fall on his theory of self defense that he presented at trial. The real issue is whether the jury, absent the evidence of the Defendant's convictions, the jury would have found his self-defense claim more credible and thus found him not guilty.

In addressing that claim, there is ample evidence in the record that the Defendant did not reasonably act in self defense. The Defendant claimed that he and the Victim argued in the van on the way to the apartments. (R. 94). He stated that after they got out and stood near the pond, he and the victim began arguing more when they both pumped up their chests and the Victim pushed him. (R. 96). The Defendant claimed that he pushed the Victim back. (R. 97). The Defendant claimed that the Victim began

advancing toward him again and he feared being struck, so he hit the Victim first in the face. (R. 93, 97). But the Defendant's version was not supported by both the Victim and Rodney Hachmeister.

The Victim testified that he never made any threatening movements toward the Defendant and he and the Defendant never argued by the pond. (R. 44, 52). Rodney Hachmeister supported the Victim's version of events when he testified that he heard a small discussion in the van about the money, but no argument. (R. 57-58). He also stated that he was only about three to six feet away from the Victim by the pond and he did not see the Victim push or get pushed by the Defendant. (R. 58-62). He testified that he was sure neither the Victim nor the Defendant said anything prior to the scuffle sound he heard before instantly turning his head. (R. 62). By the time he turned the Defendant was already connecting with his punch to the Travis Haven's face. (R. 61). Mr. Hachmeister estimated that the sound lasted about a second before he witnessed the assault. (R. 63). Thus, the Defendant's version of events is not credible because it all could not have happened in the one second that Rodney Hachmeister said it did. The evidence showed the jury that the only thing that could have happened to cause the sound Mr. Hachmeister heard in that one second was the Defendant rearing back and punching the Victim. Otherwise, the scuffle sound would have been much longer. Thus, there is convincing evidence, other than the fact of the Defendant's convictions, by which the jury could have found against the Defendant and his self defense argument. Therefore,

the Defendant has failed to meet his burden of proving a likelihood of a more favorable result.